
 

 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

 
AMPHASTAR PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
11570 Sixth Street 
Rancho Cucamonga, California  91730, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 

FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION  
10903 New Hampshire Avenue 
Silver Spring, Maryland  20993; 
 
MARGARET A. HAMBURG, M.D. 
Commissioner of Food and Drugs 
Food and Drug Administration 
10903 New Hampshire Avenue 
Silver Spring, Maryland  20993; 
 
            and 
 
KATHLEEN SEBELIUS  
Secretary of Health and Human Services 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 
200 Independence Avenue, S.W. 
Washington, D.C.  20201, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Case No. 1:10-cv-01800 
Judge Ricardo M. Urbina 

 

 Plaintiff Amphastar Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Amphastar”), by and through undersigned 

counsel, brings this Amended Complaint against the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”); the 

Commissioner of Food and Drugs, Margaret A. Hamburg, M.D.; and the Secretary of Health and 

Human Services, Kathleen Sebelius.  In support thereof, Amphastar avers and alleges as follows: 

AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

1. Amphastar brings this action for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief 

requiring the FDA to cease its unlawful treatment of Amphastar and to approve Amphastar’s 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 
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pending Abbreviated New Drug Application (“ANDA”) for generic enoxaparin sodium injection 

(the “enoxaparin ANDA”). 

2. In the nearly eight years since Amphastar filed its enoxaparin ANDA, the FDA 

has:  (a) imposed testing standards unauthorized by law and developed by Amphastar’s 

competitor; (b) used the 2007-2008 heparin crisis as a pretext for holding Amphastar’s 

enoxaparin ANDA back and favoring the ANDA submitted by a competitor with ties to an FDA 

official; (c) abused the FDA inspection processes to improperly delay qualification of the starting 

material supplier for Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA and to keep Amphastar from qualifying 

other suppliers; and (d) subjected Amphastar to disparate treatment compared to similarly 

situated companies. 

3.  The FDA’s actions against Amphastar are part of a continuing pattern of arbitrary, 

capricious and vindictive behavior posing a serious threat to Amphastar’s business. 

4. The FDA’s review of Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA has not been conducted 

fairly or in accordance with law or regulation.  While Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA has 

languished, the FDA’s favored competitor, which filed its enoxaparin ANDA more than two 

years after Amphastar, has been allowed to be the exclusive producer of a generic enoxaparin 

sodium injection product in the United States, reaping a financial windfall in the process. 

5. To prevent any further irreparable harm to Amphastar, the Court should declare 

the FDA’s actions unlawful and enter an order requiring the FDA to approve Amphastar’s 

enoxaparin ANDA. 

6. Plaintiff Amphastar is a corporation incorporated, organized and existing under 

the laws of the State of Delaware, with its principal place of business at 11570 Sixth Street, 

Rancho Cucamonga, California  91730. 

PARTIES 
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7. Defendant FDA is an agency of the United States Government within the 

Department of Health and Human Services, with offices at 200 C Street, S.W., Washington, D.C.  

20201, and 10903 New Hampshire Avenue, Silver Spring, Maryland  20993.  The Secretary of 

Health and Human Services, the official responsible by law for administering the Federal Food, 

Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”), has delegated to the FDA the authority to administer the 

relevant provisions of the FDCA. 

8. Defendant Margaret A. Hamburg, M.D., is Commissioner of Food and Drugs and 

is the senior official of the FDA.  She is sued in her official capacity.  Dr. Hamburg maintains 

offices at 200 C Street, S.W., Washington, D.C.  20201, and 10903 New Hampshire Avenue, 

Silver Spring, Maryland  20993. 

9. Defendant Kathleen Sebelius is Secretary of Health and Human Services and the 

official charged by law with administering the FDCA.  She is sued in her official capacity.  

Secretary Sebelius maintains an office at 200 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington D.C.  

20201. 

10. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 

1361, and 2201-2202. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. There exists an actual and justiciable controversy between Amphastar and 

Defendants requiring resolution by the Court.  Amphastar has no adequate remedy at law. 

12. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e). 

13. Enoxaparin sodium injection is an anti-coagulant drug used to prevent the 

formation or growth of blood clots.  Its brand name is Lovenox®, which is marketed by Sanofi-

Aventis US LLC. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 
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14. The market for Lovenox® in the United States is worth approximately $2.7 

billion annually. 

15. Amphastar applied for FDA approval to market a generic version of enoxaparin 

sodium injection on March 4, 2003. 

16. Amphastar was the first company to submit an ANDA containing a “Paragraph 

IV” certification for enoxaparin sodium injection.  (A “Paragraph IV” certification refers to an 

ANDA filer’s certification that its proposed drug product does not infringe on the patent(s) 

underlying the brand-name drug, or that the patent(s) are invalid.  21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(2)(A)(vii)).  

This application remains pending due to favoritism toward Amphastar’s competitor, improper 

delays, and disparate treatment. 

17. The first filer of an ANDA containing a Paragraph IV certification is given 180 

days of generic market exclusivity once the ANDA is approved.  That exclusivity period, 

however, is subject to expiration.  See Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act, 

Pub. L. No. 98-417, 98 Stat. 1585 (1984) (commonly known as the “Hatch-Waxman 

Amendments” to the FDCA). 

18. Amphastar’s 180-day exclusivity period expired on April 1, 2009, without 

Amphastar being able to market an enoxaparin sodium injection product due to the arbitrary and 

capricious actions of the FDA. 

19. Sandoz International GmbH (“Sandoz”), together with Momenta Pharmaceuticals, 

Inc. (“Momenta”), constitutes Amphastar’s primary competitor with respect to generic 

enoxaparin.  Sandoz/Momenta filed its own enoxaparin ANDA on or about August 30, 2005, 

more than two years after Amphastar filed with the FDA.   
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20. Despite filing its ANDA more than two years after Amphastar, Sandoz/Momenta 

received FDA approval to market enoxaparin sodium injection on July 23, 2010, and is presently 

the only generic company in this lucrative market. 

I. BACKGROUND 

A. The Enoxaparin Manufacturing Process 

21. Heparin is the required starting material for production of enoxaparin sodium 

Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient (“API”), as specified by the United States Pharmacopeia 

(“USP”) monograph. 

22. Crude heparin is first obtained from porcine intestinal mucosa. 

23. Crude heparin is then processed into either semi-purified heparin or “heparin 

sodium USP.” 

24. “Heparin sodium USP” refers to heparin meeting the monograph requirements of 

the USP Convention, a non-governmental organization with authority under the FDCA to set 

standards for the quality, purity, strength, and consistency of pharmaceutical products. 

25. Heparin sodium USP could be used as the API for a heparin injection product or 

as the starting material for a low molecular weight heparin product, such as enoxaparin.  Heparin 

sodium USP is the “starting material” for enoxaparin API in Amphastar’s ANDA. 

26. Using enoxaparin API, the enoxaparin finished drug product enoxaparin sodium 

injection can be manufactured. 

B. The ANDA Approval Process 

27. Amphastar’s effort to secure FDA approval for a generic enoxaparin sodium 

injection product is governed by the ANDA approval process, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 355(j). 

28. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments streamlined the procedure for obtaining FDA 

approval of generic drugs. 
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29. Under the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, generic pharmaceutical companies like 

Amphastar need not file a New Drug Application establishing the safety and effectiveness of 

their proposed generic product. 

30. Instead, generic applicants need only file an ANDA and establish that their 

proposed drug is “the same as” the branded drug in terms of active ingredients, method of 

administration, dosage form, and strength. 

31. The proposed generic product must also be demonstrably “bioequivalent” to the 

branded drug – meaning that there is no significant difference in the rate and extent of absorption 

between the generic and branded products.  This requirement is part of what is often referred to 

as “sameness.” 

32. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments provided a limited list of what the FDA could 

require in an ANDA submission.  21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(2)(A)(i)-(vii).  By statute, the FDA is not 

permitted to go beyond that limited list of requirements. 

33. Another part of the ANDA process is the qualification of a generic drug maker’s 

API suppliers. 

34. Qualification requires the API supplier to submit the results of process 

development and regulatory qualification studies to the FDA. 

35. Once a generic drug maker has completed each of these steps and obtained FDA 

approval, it can begin the process of manufacturing drugs designed for consumption. 

C. The Heparin Crisis 

36. In late 2007 and early 2008, the United States experienced a “heparin crisis,” 

during which many heparin product consumers in the United States died or experienced severe 

adverse events, apparently as a result of contaminated heparin injection products. 
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37. The heparin involved in the heparin crisis was imported from China and was 

tainted with Oversulfated Chondroitin Sulfate (“OSCS”). 

38. During the heparin crisis, it was discovered that virtually the entire heparin supply 

chain in China had been contaminated with OSCS. 

39. The FDA has never officially determined how the heparin supply in China was 

adulterated. 

40. No low molecular weight heparin products, of which enoxaparin sodium injection 

is one, were implicated in the heparin crisis. 

41. Nor was any Amphastar product implicated in the heparin crisis. 

42. The FDA has nonetheless used the heparin crisis to favor Sandoz/Momenta’s 

enoxaparin ANDA over Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA. 

43. Amphastar has studied the heparin crisis extensively, creating numerous 

investigative reports and providing those reports to members and committees of the United 

States Congress. 

II. THE FDA HAS IMPOSED SHIFTING STANDARDS AND IMPROPER DELAYS 
ON AMPHASTAR’S ANDA 

44. In its March 4, 2003 ANDA and during the subsequent review process, Amphastar 

demonstrated to the FDA its proposed process for manufacturing enoxaparin and the 

qualification of the starting material and API that Amphastar would use to manufacture 

enoxaparin sodium injection. 

45. In November 2006, a member of the staff of the FDA’s Office of Generic Drugs 

called Amphastar to say that Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA would be approved within ten to 

fourteen business days.  Despite this verbal assurance, Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA remains 

in limbo. 
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46. On November 2, 2007, the FDA acknowledged, in a letter to Amphastar from the 

Office of Generic Drugs, that Amphastar had met the FDA’s five “sameness” criteria and 

therefore had demonstrated its enoxaparin’s sameness with Lovenox® in its ANDA. 

47. Despite these indications of imminent ANDA approval, Amphastar’s enoxaparin 

ANDA remains in limbo to this day. 

48. In February 2007, Momenta’s founders and board members, including Dr. Ram 

Sasisekharan, in their roles as professors at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, sent e-

mails to Dr. Janet Woodcock, then the FDA’s Deputy Commissioner and now Director of FDA’s 

Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (“CDER”), urging her not to “approve generics 

rapidly,” referring to generic versions of Lovenox®.  (Dr. Woodcock was officially Acting 

Director of CDER during some of the events described in this Amended Complaint.) 

49. On or about November 2, 2007, the FDA sent Amphastar a letter acknowledging 

that Amphastar’s enoxaparin product had achieved “sameness” to Lovenox®; the same letter, 

however, also discussed Dr. Woodcock’s “concerns” regarding the potential for immunogenicity 

(i.e., allergic reactions).  

50. Dr. Woodcock determined that additional immunogenicity testing of generic 

enoxaparin was required. 

51. Immunogenicity testing is not required for ANDA applications under 21 U.S.C. § 

355(j)(2)(A)(i)-(vii), and the statute expressly states that the FDA “may not require that an 

abbreviated application [ANDA] contain information in addition to that required by clauses (i) 

through (vii).” 

52. Lovenox®, the branded enoxaparin drug deemed safe by the FDA, had never 

undergone immunogenicity testing. 
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53. In separate litigation in this District, the FDA has asserted that CDER Director 

Woodcock’s immunogenicity concerns were not shared by scientists in the FDA’s Office of 

Generic Drugs.  The Office of Generic Drugs deemed sameness sufficient for approval of an 

enoxaparin ANDA, but the FDA ultimately conceded to CDER Director Woodcock’s view and 

required additional testing. 

54. Dr. Woodcock had never before raised immunogenicity concerns with Amphastar  

in the nearly five years since Amphastar had filed its enoxaparin ANDA. 

55. Upon information and belief, the standard Dr. Woodcock chose to apply for 

demonstrating immunogenicity was developed as early as February 2007 by scientists at 

Sandoz/Momenta, including Dr. Sasisekharan and Dr. Ajaz Hussain, a Sandoz vice president who 

had been Dr. Woodcock’s colleague at CDER.  Thus, although the FDA required all generic 

enoxaparin applicants to conduct immunogenicity testing, Sandoz/Momenta had the advantage 

of having developed the testing standard itself at least approximately nine months earlier. 

56. On or about November 19, 2007, Dr. Woodcock took the unusual step of 

personally involving herself in Amphastar’s ANDA, presiding over a meeting with Amphastar to 

assign the new immunogenicity requirements. 

57. Despite these irregularities, Amphastar nonetheless provided immunogenicity 

study data promptly and satisfactorily, completing its immunogenicity submissions to the FDA 

by March 2008. 

58. Upon information and belief, Sandoz/Momenta, despite having a nine-month head 

start, did not submit its immunogenicity data to the FDA until on or about September 26, 2008. 

59. As of 2008, Amphastar has met or exceeded every immunogenicity standard set 

for its enoxaparin sodium product. 

Case 1:10-cv-01800-RMU   Document 6-1    Filed 12/22/10   Page 9 of 31



 

10 

 

60. For example, Amphastar reduced the level of protein impurities (which relate to 

immunogenicity concerns) in its enoxaparin to a level 800 times lower than the level of protein 

impurities found in Lovenox® and 20,000 times lower than the level of protein impurities 

allowed for “heparin USP” in the USP monograph.  Reducing impurities reduces the likelihood 

of immunogenic responses in consumers. 

61. In short, Amphastar has repeatedly met the standards set by the FDA, only to see 

those standards shift or to have new standards arbitrarily and capriciously created.  Every time 

Amphastar clears the Agency’s latest obstacle to approval, a new one is created. 

62. Momenta/Sandoz has not been subject to the obstruction to which the FDA has 

subjected Amphastar, as Momenta/Sandoz received final ANDA approval on July 23, 2010 

despite having filed its ANDA more than two years after Amphastar’s. 

III. THE FDA HAS IMPROPERLY BLOCKED QUALIFICATION OF QJBC’S 
STARTING MATERIAL 

63. In its enoxaparin ANDA presently on file with the FDA, Amphastar has 

designated Qingdao Jiulong Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“QJBC”) as its supplier of heparin 

starting material.  International Medication Systems, Ltd., a wholly-owned Amphastar 

subsidiary, is QJBC’s agent in the United States. 

64. For approximately five years after Amphastar filed its enoxaparin ANDA, the 

FDA never required inspections of Amphastar’s enoxaparin starting material supplier. 

65. Nonetheless, in another example of shifting standards, the FDA later (after 

Amphastar had achieved sameness) required inspections of Amphastar’s starting material 

supplier. 

66. When Amphastar demonstrated the “sameness” of its enoxaparin API in 

November 2007, it did so using API manufactured from starting material sourced from QJBC’s 
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predecessor, Qingdao Kangyuan Pharmaceuticals Co., and that starting material was  

manufactured using the same process, equipment, documentation, and personnel in place at 

QJBC today. 

67. Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA previously listed Shanghai No. 1 Biochemical 

and Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai No. 1”) as its supplier of starting material. 

68. Upon information and belief, Sandoz/Momenta’s enoxaparin ANDA also 

previously listed Shanghai No. 1 as its supplier of starting material. 

69. When Amphastar discovered that Shanghai No. 1 was, in fact, only a re-packager 

of heparin starting material manufactured by QJBC, Amphastar immediately and voluntarily 

informed the FDA on or about June 18, 2008 and, soon afterward, began sourcing its heparin 

starting material directly from QJBC and amended its enoxaparin ANDA to reflect the change. 

70. In late July 2008, the FDA conducted an inspection of QJBC in China. 

71. The FDA investigators found no significant deficiencies and made only three 

“minor observations.”  (“Minor observations” is a term used by FDA inspectors and regulated 

parties to describe non-significant observations that are discussed with manufacturers and 

included in FDA Form 483 reports.) 

72. At the end of the inspection, the FDA inspectors stated that they would 

recommend approval of Amphastar’s ANDA using QJBC’s starting material.  In their written 

report, the FDA investigators made three minor observations, none of which related to OSCS 

contamination. 

73. QJBC responded to the FDA’s three minor observations on or about August 13, 

2008. 
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74. Despite being informed of Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA amendment, which  

formally changed its starting material supplier from Shanghai No. 1 to QJBC, and despite 

conducting a thorough inspection of QJBC in late July 2008, the FDA inexplicably sent 

Amphastar a letter on or about December 23, 2008 asserting that Shanghai No. 1 was 

Amphastar’s supplier of heparin starting material. 

75. On the basis of this alleged “falsity” – which had no basis in fact – the FDA 

rescinded its earlier “sameness” finding for Amphastar’s enoxaparin. 

76. Upon information and belief, Sandoz/Momenta submitted to the FDA on or about 

November 20, 2008 (three months after Amphastar) an amendment to its ANDA removing 

Shanghai No. 1 as the listed supplier of starting material for its own enoxaparin product. 

77. Upon information and belief, Sandoz/Momenta did not immediately disclose (as 

Amphastar did), the true role that Shanghai No. 1 played in the heparin supply chain.  Yet 

Sandoz/Momenta (unlike Amphastar) has not had its “sameness” finding rescinded. 

78. The FDA’s December 23, 2008 letter indicated that the FDA would force 

Amphastar to start the ANDA process over completely, allowing the FDA to further delay 

Amphastar’s entry into the enoxaparin market.  The letter said, “It is possible that a major 

amendment will not remedy the deficiencies in your ANDA, and you may need to withdraw and 

submit a new ANDA.” 

79. Amphastar and QJBC spent the next three months trying to clarify this issue with 

the FDA. 

80. Finally, on or around April 1, 2009, the FDA officials with whom Amphastar had 

been dealing accepted Amphastar’s clarification and allowed Amphastar to continue its business. 
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81. Surprisingly, QJBC received a “warning letter” two weeks later, on or about April 

14, 2009, accusing it of manufacturing heparin contaminated with OSCS, the same contaminant 

at the heart of the heparin crisis and found in virtually the entire Chinese heparin supply chain in 

2008. 

82. The FDA’s warning letter to QJBC stated that it was issued on the basis of the 

three minor inspection observations made during the late July 2008 inspection and “other 

information.” 

83. Although OSCS contamination at QJBC had never before been raised by the 

FDA, QJBC on it its own undertook a series of thorough investigations and quality system 

improvements designed to prevent any recurrence of the OSCS contamination that affected the 

entire Chinese heparin supply chain in late 2007 and early 2008.  QJBC in 2007 produced 19 lots 

of heparin starting material that were later found to be contaminated with OSCS.  Amphastar 

reported this to the FDA on or about April 20, 2008. 

84. The heparin starting material contained in QJBC’s 19 lots never became part of 

any consumable product.  Amphastar’s own testing revealed the contamination. 

85. A warning letter issued by the FDA describes deficiencies found by the FDA and 

requires corrective action.  For a company like QJBC, a warning letter also has the effect of 

shutting down its manufacturing process and blocking its products from reaching Amphastar in 

the United States. 

86. The FDA’s warning letter to QJBC contained a basic error, in that it referred to 

QJBC as a manufacturer of API or “drugs.”  QJBC only manufactures starting material for 

Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA, and the standards for drug or API manufacturers are therefore 

inappropriate for a company like QJBC. 
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87. Both the USP monograph for enoxaparin and FDA’s own internal guidance 

documents recognize that heparin is a starting material for enoxaparin API, not an API itself. 

88. The difference between starting material and API is important because API is 

subject to different and more rigorous testing during the ANDA approval process. 

89. QJBC’s warning letter remains in effect today, more than 20 months after its 

issuance by the FDA.  During this period, Amphastar has sent the FDA numerous letters stating 

that the warning letter is baseless, represents application of inequitable standards, and should be 

withdrawn. 

90. Although it viewed the warning letter as baseless, Amphastar has encouraged 

QJBC to cooperate with the FDA. 

91. Based on a suggestion, in writing, from the FDA, Amphastar and QJBC arranged 

for an independent audit of QJBC’s facility in China by a respected former FDA inspector.  This 

independent audit took place in May 2009. 

92. The results of the independent audit were favorable for QJBC, but the FDA 

refused to accept the audit’s results. 

93. Instead, the FDA conducted a re-inspection of QJBC in November 2009. 

94. The FDA’s lead inspector for the November 2009 inspection, Eric Mueller, 

harassed QJBC employees and otherwise acted in an unprofessional manner; he also stated his 

intention to treat QJBC as a supplier of API, despite knowing that QJBC in fact only 

manufactures starting material for Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA. 

95. Amphastar formally complained about Mr. Mueller’s behavior in a November 

2009 letter to the FDA. 
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96. The FDA made 19 observations based on its November 2009 re-inspection (in 

contrast to the three minor observations made in 2008). 

97. Although it was shocked by the treatment it received from Mr. Mueller, QJBC 

nonetheless addressed each observation in correspondence with the FDA:  QJBC sent the FDA 

two response letters in December 2009. 

98. On or about July 22, 2010, QJBC received a follow-up letter from the FDA, to 

which QJBC responded on or about August 16, 2010. 

99. Despite QJBC’s responsiveness, the FDA’s warning letter remained in place as the 

FDA held Amphastar’s ANDA in administrative limbo. 

100. The FDA sat silent until Amphastar commenced this litigation.  Only on 

November 30, 2010 – some three months after approving Sandoz/Momenta’s ANDA – did the 

FDA contact Amphastar regarding QJBC. 

101. The FDA’s November 30, 2010 letter raises no new issues; each point in the letter 

has been addressed in previous correspondence between Amphastar and QJBC and the FDA. 

102. Instead, the November 30 letter appears designed to further delay Amphastar’s 

efforts to receive approval for its enoxaparin ANDA by requesting a third FDA inspection (the 

fourth overall, including the independent audit) of QJBC. 

103. The FDA has asked that QJBC be inspected by the FDA for a third time since 

2008.  Although Amphastar knows of no other starting material supplier that has been subject to 

similar scrutiny, Amphastar and QJBC are cooperating with the FDA. 

104. Although Amphastar and QJBC are cooperating with the FDA – they have little 

choice but to do otherwise – the FDA’s actions appear designed to send Amphastar and QJBC 
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back to “square one” over and over again, which would enable the FDA to further delay approval 

of Amphastar’s ANDA. 

105. The FDA’s obstruction of QJBC is causing irreparable harm to Amphastar. 

106. An enoxaparin sodium injection product is a cornerstone of Amphastar’s 

pharmaceutical product pipeline. 

107. Qualification of QJBC is the last remaining obstacle Amphastar faces in its effort 

to secure FDA approval of its enoxaparin ANDA (unless the FDA later erects further obstacles). 

IV. THE FDA’S TREATMENT OF AMPHASTAR IS DISPARATE 

108. The FDA’s treatment of Amphastar stands in stark contrast to the Agency’s 

treatment of Sandoz/Momenta. 

109. As a retired official from the FDA’s Office of Generic Drugs was quoted in a 

November 9, 2010 article in the Wall Street Journal, “everyone closely involved [in the approval 

process for enoxaparin ANDAs] saw that it was stacked and the whole direction was toward 

Momenta.” 

A. The FDA Used the Heparin Crisis to Favor Sandoz/Momenta 

110. During the heparin crisis in 2008, Dr. Woodcock recruited Momenta co-founder 

Dr. Sasisekharan to take a leadership role in the FDA’s investigation into the causes of the 

heparin crisis. 

111. Dr. Sasisekharan had previously urged Dr. Woodcock not to approve generic 

enoxaparin applicants “rapidly,” and he had helped to develop the immunogenicity standard Dr. 

Woodcock required enoxaparin ANDA applicants to meet. 

112. Dr. Woodcock recruited Dr. Sasisekharan despite conflicts of interest, including, 

but not limited to, the fact that Sandoz/Momenta’s enoxaparin ANDA was pending before the 

FDA at the time of the investigation. 
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113. Upon information and belief, Dr. Sasisekharan was the only non-governmental 

member of the group formed to investigate the heparin crisis. 

114. Momenta, which Dr. Sasisekharan co-founded, also provided free services to the 

FDA during the heparin crisis. 

115. The relationship between Dr. Woodcock and Momenta runs deep:  during the 

heparin crisis, Drs. Woodcock and Sasisekharan co-authored four scholarly journal articles.  Dr. 

Woodcock made no disclosure in those articles of her conflicts of interest and has not done so 

since their publication. 

116. Amphastar has twice (on or about April 27, 2009 and January 10, 2010) requested 

Dr. Woodcock’s recusal from consideration of all ANDAs for enoxaparin, including 

Amphastar’s. 

117. The Inspector General of the Department of Health and Human Services 

investigated Amphastar’s allegations regarding conflicts of interest involving Dr. Woodcock and 

Momenta, but Amphastar’s recusal request was denied on or about September 11, 2009 on the 

basis of a finding that Dr. Woodcock did not have financial ties to Momenta. 

118. Amphastar has received no formal response to its second request for Dr. 

Woodcock’s recusal. 

119. In a November 9, 2010 report, the Government Accountability Office supported 

Amphastar’s concerns about Dr. Woodcock and Dr. Sasisekharan, criticizing the FDA for actions 

which “would compromise, or appear to compromise, the [FDA’s] activities” and stating that 

“agency officials ran the risk of undermining public confidence in the integrity of FDA’s 

operations. . . .” 
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120. As the Wall Street Journal reported in the wake of the Government Accountability 

Office’s November 9, 2010 report, the FDA “creat[ed] the appearance of favoritism toward a 

Boston company [Momenta] that won lucrative first rights to sell a generic drug after providing 

free consulting work to the agency.” 

121. The favoritism shown toward Sandoz/Momenta has nullified any advantage 

Amphastar, as the first filer of a Paragraph IV ANDA, might have had due to filing its 

enoxaparin ANDA more than two years before Sandoz/Momenta.  The FDA’s improper actions 

have repeatedly sent Amphastar back to the starting line, while Sandoz/Momenta has been 

allowed to proceed toward approval without the obstruction faced by Amphastar. 

B. The FDA Has Unjustifiably Inspected Amphastar Facilities Numerous Times 

122. The heparin crisis involved a heparin product sold by Baxter International, Inc. 

(“Baxter”) and Scientific Protein Laboratories LLC (“SPL”). 

123. SPL’s Chinese subsidiary, Changzhou Scientific Products Laboratories 

(“CZSPL”), provided the Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient for Baxter’s heparin injection 

product. 

124. Sandoz/Momenta, now selling a generic enoxaparin sodium injection product in 

the United States, is a customer of SPL, and Baxter manufactures Sandoz/Momenta’s enoxaparin 

product. 

125. On or about April 29, 2008, CDER Director Woodcock, in Congressional 

testimony, stated that the FDA had identified twelve Chinese companies whose heparin products 

had been contaminated with OSCS. 

126. All four of Sandoz/Momenta’s suppliers were on Dr. Woodcock’s list of tainted 

suppliers. 
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127. Upon information and belief, many of these tainted suppliers continue to sell 

heparin intended for use by U.S. consumers. 

128. Two years after the “heparin crisis” of 2007-2008, heparin API contaminated with 

OSCS continues to reach the United States. 

129. In October 2010, pharmaceutical company B.Braun recalled heparin contaminated 

with OSCS that had been purchased from SPL – one of Sandoz/Momenta’s suppliers. 

130. Upon information and belief, SPL has not received a warning letter from the 

FDA, and it has not been subject to the same level of scrutiny and inspections experienced by 

Amphastar, its subsidiaries, and suppliers. 

131. Meanwhile, Amphastar, its subsidiaries, and its suppliers (including QJBC) were 

inspected by the FDA approximately 18 times between February 2008 and December 2009, yet 

QJBC is still blocked from supplying starting material to Amphastar for its enoxaparin ANDA. 

V. THE FDA HAS IMPROPERLY DELAYED AMPHASTAR’S EFFORTS TO 
QUALIFY OTHER SUPPLIERS 

132. Amphastar, established in 1996, is a specialty and generic pharmaceutical 

company focusing on injectable, inhalation, and other categories of pharmaceutical products and 

API. 

133. International Medication Systems, Ltd. (“IMS”), located in South El Monte, 

California, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Amphastar.  IMS is a registered pharmaceutical 

manufacturer of sterile injectable and topical drug products and API. 

134. Amphastar Nanjing Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“ANP”), located in Nanjing, People’s 

Republic of China, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Amphastar.  ANP produces raw materials for 

Amphastar products.  ANP’s production facility is registered with the FDA. 
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135. Amphastar established ANP in January 2009 as a wholly-owned subsidiary 

located in Nanjing, China. 

136. Using ANP as a supplier will allow Amphastar to strengthen and vertically 

integrate its supply chain; ANP thus will provide Amphastar greater control over both the quality 

and availability of its raw material. 

137. Amphastar also established ANP, in part, to supply raw material to IMS so that 

IMS may be an eventual alternative supplier of starting material for enoxaparin, given the 

obstacles the FDA has imposed on QJBC. 

138. In addition, shipping from ANP to IMS is completely within the same umbrella of 

corporate entities owned by Amphastar. 

139. With respect to enoxaparin sodium injection, Amphastar plans to utilize semi-

purified heparin from ANP as follows: 

a. Amphastar will have its subsidiary ANP refine crude heparin into semi-

purified heparin. 

b. This semi-purified heparin will then be shipped to IMS, Amphastar’s 

subsidiary in California. 

c. IMS will then process the semi-purified heparin into Heparin sodium USP, 

the “starting material” for enoxaparin API. 

d. IMS will then further process the heparin sodium USP into enoxaparin 

sodium USP, which is the API for enoxaparin. 

e. Once enoxaparin API has been produced, Amphastar itself will process the 

API into a sterile aqueous solution to achieve the finished drug product 

enoxaparin sodium injection. 
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140. Utilization of ANP is needed for qualification of IMS as a starting material 

supplier for Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA. 

141. Once IMS is qualified, Amphastar can amend its enoxaparin ANDA to also list 

IMS as a supplier of starting material (i.e., heparin USP). 

142. Qualification requires scientific testing of raw material and submission of the test 

results to the FDA. 

143. In an effort to conduct this testing, Amphastar shipped quantities of semi-purified 

heparin produced by ANP to IMS, its subsidiary in California, in May and June 2010. 

144. The FDA improperly detained this raw material for more than five months, and 

released it only after Amphastar commenced litigation against the Agency. 

A. Entry 1:  No. E4K-0053715-4 

145. The first shipment of raw materials improperly detained by the FDA contained 

2.44 kilograms of Semi-Purified Heparin Sodium (U.S. Customs and Border Protection 

(“Customs”) Entry No. E4K-0053715-4) (“Entry 1”).  Entry 1 arrived at Los Angeles 

International Airport from ANP on or about May 16, 2010, and was received at IMS on or about 

May 21, 2010. 

146. Amphastar commenced processing a portion of Entry 1 into heparin sodium USP 

in a process development experiment not intended for human or animal use. 

147. On or about June 23, 2010, more than 30 days after Entry 1 was conditionally 

released pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 141.113(c), Amphastar received notice of a pending review by 

the FDA. 

148. On or about July 14, 2010, the FDA issued a Notice of FDA Action releasing 

Entry 1 to IMS. 
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149. On or about July 22, 2010, Amphastar’s customs broker reported that an FDA 

Compliance Officer had telephoned him, stating that the July 14, 2010 Notice of FDA Action 

releasing Entry 1 had been issued in error. 

150. On or about July 29, 2010, Amphastar received a Notice of FDA Action, dated 

July 26, 2010 notifying Amphastar that the release had been rescinded. 

151. On or about August 5, 2010, Amphastar received notice that the FDA’s 

investigation of Entry 1 had been reopened and that Entry 1 had been detained due to 

“misbranding,” in violation of FDCA §§ 502(o) and 801(a)(3).  The notice stated that “[t]he 

article appears to lack adequate directions for use, and the article does not appear to be exempt 

from such requirements.” 

152. FDCA § 502 applies to drugs, as defined in FDCA § 201(g)(1).  Under that 

definition, the raw materials contained in the detained shipment are not drugs and therefore do 

not require “adequate directions for use.” 

153. Even if the raw material could be construed as a drug for the purposes of 

requiring “directions for use” in accordance with 21 C.F.R. § 201.5, the shipment would fall 

under 21 C.F.R. § 201.122, which exempts from the “adequate directions for use” requirement in 

FDCA § 502(f)(1) a drug in a bulk package, except tablets, capsules, or other dosage unit forms, 

intended for processing, repacking, or use in the manufacture of another drug, provided certain 

labeling requirements are met. 

154. Despite the FDA’s lack of authority and failure to follow the statute and its own 

regulations, in a demonstration of good faith, Amphastar had already labeled its shipments with 

the statements required to qualify for the exemption under 21 C.F.R. § 201.122(c).  Amphastar 

notified the FDA of this on or about August 12, 2010. 
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155. On or about August 20, 2010, Amphastar received notice that the FDA’s 

investigation of Entry 1 had again been reopened and that Entry 1 had been detained due to 

“misbranding,” in violation of FDCA §§ 502(o) and 801(a)(3).  This time, the notice stated that 

“[t]he foreign manufacturer has not registered as required by section 510(i)(1).” 

156. This statement was incorrect because ANP is, in fact, registered with the FDA. 

157. Entry 1 was held in quarantine at IMS from July 22, 2010 until it was released by 

the FDA after Amphastar commenced this litigation. 

B. Entry 2:  No. E4K-0053980-4 

158. The second shipment of raw materials improperly detained by the FDA contained 

46.5 kilograms of Semi-Purified Heparin Sodium (Customs Entry No. E4K-0053775-8) (“Entry 

2”).  Entry 2 arrived at Los Angeles International Airport from ANP on or about May 27, 2010 

and was received at IMS on or about June 4, 2010. 

159. On or about July 14, 2010, the FDA issued a Notice of FDA Action releasing 

Entry 2 to IMS. 

160. Following the July 14, 2010 release of Entry 2, Amphastar’s subsidiary IMS 

processed two of the three lots of semi-purified heparin contained in Entry 2 into Heparin 

Sodium USP. 

161. On or about July 22, 2010, Amphastar’s customs broker reported that an FDA 

Compliance Officer had telephoned him, stating that the July 14, 2010 Notice of FDA Action 

releasing Entry 2 had been issued in error. 

162. On or about July 26, 2010, the FDA issued a Notice of FDA Action stating that 

the previous release of Entry 2 had been rescinded. 

On or about August 5, 2010, Amphastar received notice that the FDA’s investigation of 

Entry 2 had been reopened and that Entry 2 had been detained due to “misbranding,” in violation 
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of FDCA §§ 502(f)(1) and 801(a)(3).  The notice stated that “[t]he article appears to lack 

adequate directions for use, and the article does not appear to be exempt from such 

requirements.” 

163. FDCA § 502 applies to drugs, as defined in FDCA § 201(g)(1).  Under that 

definition, the raw materials contained in the detained shipment are not drugs and therefore do 

not require “adequate directions for use.” 

164. Even if the raw materials could be construed as a drug for the purposes of 

requiring “directions for use” in accordance with 21 C.F.R. § 201.5, the shipment would fall 

under 21 C.F.R. § 201.122, which exempts from the “adequate directions for use” requirement in 

FDCA § 502(f)(1) a drug in a bulk package, except tablets, capsules, or other dosage unit forms, 

intended for processing, repacking, or use in the manufacture of another drug, provided certain 

labeling requirements are met. 

165. Despite the FDA’s lack of authority and failure to follow the statute and its own 

regulations, in a demonstration of good faith, Amphastar had already labeled its shipments with 

the statements required to qualify for the exemption under 21 C.F.R. § 201.122(c).  Amphastar 

notified the FDA of this on or about August 12, 2010. 

166. On or about August 20, 2010, Amphastar received notice that the FDA’s 

investigation of Entry 2 had been reopened and that Entry 2 had been detained due to 

“misbranding,” in violation of the FDCA §§ 502(o) and 801(a)(3).  The notice stated that “[t]he 

foreign manufacturer has not registered as required by section 510(i)(1).” 

167. This statement was incorrect because ANP is, in fact, registered with the FDA. 

168. Entry 2 was held in quarantine at IMS from July 22, 2010 until they were released 

by the FDA after Amphastar commenced this litigation. 
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169. The FDA’s improper detention of raw materials needed to secure the company’s 

supply chain, especially for this critical application, caused irreparable harm to Amphastar. 

170. Amphastar sought to bring the raw materials at issue in this case into the United 

States for process development so that Amphastar can document the submission package for the 

FDA regarding the qualification of IMS’s Heparin USP (the starting material of enoxaparin API) 

using ANP’s raw materials. 

C. Release of Entries 1 and 2 

171. On October 28, 2010, three days after Amphastar commenced this litigation, the 

FDA wrote to Amphastar regarding Entries 1 and 2. 

172. The FDA’s October 28 letter requested information from Amphastar, dropped one 

of the claimed bases of the detentions, and invited Amphastar to schedule a meeting with the 

FDA – after months of refusing to do so. 

173. Amphastar responded on November 5, 2010 with the requested information, while 

noting that such information had already been provided to the FDA seven times. 

174. Then, on November 8, 2010, the FDA released Entries 1 and 2. 

175. Even in its November 8 letter releasing Entries 1 and 2, however, the FDA left the 

door open to further obstruction, stating that it has not yet made “a final decision” on whether 

Entries 1 and 2 are exempt from FDCA labeling requirements.  

176. Unless it can complete the qualification of IMS’s Heparin USP using ANP’s raw 

materials – especially given the FDA’s continued obstruction of QJBC – Amphastar cannot 

continue its normal business operations. 
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VI. HARM SUFFERED BY AMPHASTAR 

177. While the FDA has repeatedly and improperly blocked Amphastar from bringing 

its enoxaparin sodium injection product to the U.S. market, Amphastar’s competitor have not 

been similarly hindered. 

178. Approval of Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA and qualification of its suppliers are 

crucial in order to maintain Amphastar’s economic viability. 

179. Amphastar has repeatedly provided detailed scientific information to the FDA 

demonstrating the safety and purity of its raw material, API, and finished products. 

180. In response, the FDA has either ignored this information or shifted its standard to 

require different information. 

181. The FDA’s favoritism toward Amphastar’s competitor has kept Amphastar from 

participating in the lucrative market for generic enoxaparin sodium injection products. 

182. Amphastar has repeatedly sought to engage the FDA on these issues, sending over 

40 letters to the FDA between January 2009 and July 2010, but was greeted with silence until 

Amphastar initiated this litigation. 

183. For example, Amphastar repeatedly sought information from the FDA on the 

Agency’s detentions of Entries 1 and 2, but the FDA provided only pretextual justifications for 

the detentions. 

184. Prior to beginning this lawsuit, Amphastar, on multiple occasions, via letter and e-

mail, provided the FDA with written explanations of any claimed deficiencies in the labeling of 

the raw material contained in Entries 1 and 2. 

185. Only when Amphastar sought relief from the Court did the FDA begin to discuss 

the detentions with Amphastar. 
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186. Even now, however, the FDA continues to impose new pretextual roadblocks to 

approval of Amphastar’s ANDA, including the FDA’s refusal to lift the warning letter issued to 

QJBC. 

187. The FDA’s actions with respect to Amphastar reflect a broader pattern of arbitrary, 

capricious, and vindictive behavior against Amphastar by Dr. Woodcock and by the FDA 

generally. 

188. For example, between February 2008 and December 2009, the FDA – using what 

appeared to be manufactured justifications – inspected Amphastar facilities approximately fifteen 

times within the span of ninety-four working days, using nineteen different FDA investigators, 

and without finding anything more than extremely minor deficiencies with Amphastar. 

189. The FDA’s arbitrary and capricious actions have also extended beyond 

Amphastar’s efforts to have its enoxaparin ANDA approved. 

190. Amphastar manufactures a package of six drugs known as Critical Care Drugs 

(“CCD”) used by first responders and in emergency rooms. 

191. Following various June 2006 changes in enforcement policy toward drug 

producers that would logically be expected to be applied consistently to all manufacturers, the 

FDA forced Amphastar to discontinue production of CCDs at the end of 2009, while allowing 

Amphastar’s competitor, producing the same drugs, to remain on the market. 

192. Only when a severe CCD shortage occurred did the FDA “request,” in July 2010, 

that Amphastar reintroduce its CCDs. 

193. In addition, Amphastar has repeatedly attempted to engage FDA officials with 

respect to Amphastar’s treatment by the FDA, but these efforts have been fruitless.  Further 

efforts by Amphastar to resolve this dispute without Court intervention would be futile. 
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194. In light of the FDA’s intransigence, Amphastar has concluded that seeking judicial 

intervention is the Company’s only recourse for relief from the FDA’s improper actions. 

195. Amphastar has exhausted any administrative remedies available to it.  

Alternatively, any additional pursuit of administrative relief from the FDA would be futile and 

would only result in further delay and harm to Amphastar. 

COUNT I 

196. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated by reference 

as if fully set forth herein. 

Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act 

197. The FDA’s imposition of immunogenicity testing requirements on enoxaparin 

ANDAs is beyond the authority of the FDA.  Immunogenicity testing is not required for ANDA 

applications under 21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(2)(A)(i)-(vii), and the statute expressly states that the FDA 

“may not require that an abbreviated application [ANDA] contain information in addition to that 

required by clauses (i) through (vii).” 

198. The FDA has treated Amphastar disparately from Amphastar’s similarly situated 

competitors. 

199. In particular, the FDA has shown favoritism and bias toward one of those 

competitors, Sandoz/Momenta. 

200. The FDA has improperly blocked QJBC from serving as a supplier of heparin 

starting material to Amphastar. 

201. The FDA has failed to follow the procedures required of it by statute and 

regulation for inspections, testing, and detention of regulated materials, as well as the procedures 

required for resolution of detention questions. 
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202. Until Amphastar commenced this litigation, the FDA refused to release Entries 1 

and 2 without evidence that the contents of those Entries violate the FDCA. 

203. The FDA has provided no justification for its prior detention decisions, despite 

repeated requests from Amphastar. 

204. While refusing to release Amphastar’s raw materials or allow QJBC to 

manufacture starting material for Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA, the FDA allowed Amphastar’s 

competitors to import heparin, from suspect suppliers, without interference. 

205. The FDA has not supported its disparate treatment of Amphastar with a reasoned 

explanation or substantial evidence in the record. 

206. The FDA’s actions described within this Amended Complaint are arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion, not in accordance with the law, and in excess of statutory 

authority, and therefore violate 5 U.S.C. §§ 706(2)(A) and 706(2)(C). 

207. Amphastar has been harmed and is experiencing harm directly and proximately 

caused by Defendants’ failure to follow the law. 

208. The FDA’s unlawful conduct is ongoing and immediate.  As a result of the FDA’s 

conduct, Amphastar has been harmed and is being harmed.  The FDA’s actions make it 

impossible for Amphastar to complete its Abbreviated New Drug Application for enoxaparin. 

COUNT II 

209. The allegations set forth in the foregoing paragraphs are incorporated by reference 

as if fully set forth herein. 

Declaratory Judgment 

210. Defendants’ actions are in violation of federal statute and regulations. 

211. Amphastar is suffering irreparable harm due to Defendants’ failure to follow the 

law. 
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212. The FDA’s unlawful conduct is ongoing and immediate.  As a result of the FDA’s 

conduct, Amphastar has been directly and proximately harmed and is being harmed.  The FDA’s 

actions make it impossible for Amphastar to complete its enoxaparin Abbreviated New Drug 

Application. 

213. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 et seq., Amphastar respectfully requests that the 

Court:  (a) declare the FDA’s actions as set forth in this Amended Complaint are contrary to 

federal law and regulations; (b) declare that the FDA has acted arbitrarily and capriciously in its 

application of federal law and regulations; and (c) enter judgment in favor of Amphastar. 

 WHEREFORE, Amphastar requests that the Court enter judgment in its favor and against 

Defendants and award the following relief: 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

a. A declaratory judgment that Defendants are acting unlawfully in their disparate 

treatment of Amphastar and their favoritism toward Amphastar’s competitors. 

b. A declaratory judgment that Defendants are acting unlawfully in their treatment 

of Amphastar supplier QJBC; 

c. A declaratory judgment that Defendants acted unlawfully in detaining Entries 1 

and 2; 

d. A permanent injunction directing Defendants to lift the warning letter issued to 

QJBC; 

e. A permanent injunction directing Defendants to cease their improper imposition 

of obstacles on Amphastar’s enoxaparin ANDA and to approve Amphastar’s 

enoxaparin ANDA; 

f. A permanent injunction directing Defendants to require the recusal of Dr. Janet 

Woodcock from all Amphastar-related matters pending before the FDA; 
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g. A permanent injunction directing Defendants to cease their improper interference 

with the shipment of raw materials between ANP and IMS/Amphastar; and 

h. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

 
 
 
 
Dated:  December 22, 2010 Respectfully submitted, 
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